Virginia M. Barry, Ph.D. Paul Leather

Commissioner of Education Deputy Commissioner of Education
Tel. 603-271-3144 Tel. 603-271-3801

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
101 Pleasant Street
Concord, N.H. 03301
FAX 603-271-1953
Citizens Services Line 1-800-339-9900

November 5, 2015

Her Excellency, Governor Margaret Wood Hassan
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

1. Authorize the Department of Education (the Department), Bureau of Assessment and
Accountability to enter into a sole source Agreement with the College Board, New York, New York
(vendor code 164060), in an amount not to exceed $613,272.45, to administer the SAT assessment in
grade 11 to ensure a continuation of assessment services to meet federal and state law (Elementary
and Secondary Education Act, Sec. 1111(b}(3); NH RSA 193-C:4), effective from the date of Governor
and Council approval through June 30, 2016. 27% State Funds, 73% Federal Funds.

Funding is avadilable in the accounts titled Assessment-State and State Assessment-Federal as follows:

FY16
06-56-56-562110-49670000-612-500942 State Testing $165,763.00
06-56-56-562110-49930000-102-500731 Contracts for Program Services $447,509.45

2. Subject to Governor and Councit approval of ltem 1 above, authorize the Department of
Education to include a renewal option on this contract for up to one additional fiscal year, subject to
the contractor’'s acceptable performance of the terms therein.

EXPLANATION

The contract is sole source due to the fact that the College Board is the sole provider of the SAT
assessment. A request was made and granted within the Department’s Elementary and Secondary
Education Act Flexibility Waiver Renewal to change the State's high school statewide assessment from
the Smarter Balanced Assessment to the SAT assessment. Upon approval, the Department will use the
SAT as a means of assessing students in grade 11.

Founded in 1900, the College Board is a mission-driven, not-for-profit organization that connects
students to college success and opportunity. It was created to expand access to higher education.
Today, the membership association is made up of some of the world's leading educational institutions
and is dedicated to promoting excellence and equity in education.
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and the Honorable Council
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Each year, the College Board helps millions of students prepare for a successful transition to college
through programs and services in college readiness and college success — including the SAT and the
Advanced Placement Program. The organization also serves the education community through
research and advocacy on behalf of students, educators and schools.

The SAT is designed to assess students’ academic readiness for college. These exams provide a
path to opportunities, financial support and scholarships. in a way that is fair to all students. The
SAT keeps pace with what colleges are looking for today, measuring the skills required for
success in the 21st century.

The College Board will support the Department in administering the SAT exam during a school
day, providing accommodations for those students needing support as necessary. The data
collected from the SAT exam, at the state level, will be for the purposes of meeting state and
federal accountability requirements. in addition, individual students will have access to
detailed reports on their results and support and services through the College Board.

Because this contract fulfills both state and federal assessment requirements, the costs are shared
between federal and state funds.

Respectfully submitted,

Virginid . Barry, Ph.D.
Commissioner of Education

VMB:hg:emr
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FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 5/8/15)

Notice: This agreement and all of its atiachments shall become public upon submission 10 Goversor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is peivate, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed 10 in wriling prior 10 signing the comract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutuaily agree as follows:
GENERAL PROVISIONS
1, IDENTIFICATION.
I.1 State Agency Name 1.2 State Agency Address
NH Depantment of Education 101 Pleasant Street, Concord, NH 03301
13 Coniractor Name 1.4 Contracior Address
The College Entrance Examination Board 250 Vesey Street, New York, NY 10281
DBA: The College Board
1.5 Comtracior Fhone 1.6 Accoum Number 1.7 Compiciion Date 1.8 Price Linstation
Number June 30, 20l6
212-713-8121 See Exhibih B Seprember302016 $613.27245
1.9 Coniracting Officer for State Agency 1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
Hesther Gage, Director, Division of Educational Improvement 603-271-5992

1.12 Name and Title of Contmcior Signatory
JEREMY SINGCER

CHiEF A7 CrFi CER

1.1l ALontractor Signature
LN Q
‘\
1.1 Acknowledgement: State of , County of

Ou
iﬂliulﬂl in block [.12,

1.13.1 Siprature of Notary P ’

1.13,2 Name and Title of No

. PUBLIC DISTRICT OF COLUMEIA
1.14  State Agency Signature /! / {/(
[
1.16 A
By:

the N.H. Department of Administutm. Division of Psssonnel (if applicable)

1.15 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory

V.Rginis .

Director, On:

By:

[y,

[ e

1.17 Approval byt é(lmy General (Foem, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

On y 5 e

By:

1.18 Approval by the Govefnor and Executive Zouncil (if applicable)

On:
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2. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTRACTOR/SERVICES TO
BE PERFORMED. The State of New Hampshire, acting
through the agency identified in block 1.1 (**State”), engages
contractor identified in block 1.3 (“Contractor”) to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified and more particularly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
(“Services”).

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties
hereunder, shall become effective on the date the Governor
and Executive Council approve this Agreement as indicated in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall become effective on the date the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency as shown in block
1.14 (“Effective Date™).

3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior
10 the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become eflective, the State shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4, CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of
appropriated funds, the State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, if ever, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
1o the Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that
Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.

5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

5.3 The Siate reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.IL. RSA
80.7 through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.

5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances. in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block
1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY,

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services 1o ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
communicate with, receive information from, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright laws.

6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, nge, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin and will take
affirmative action to prevent such discrimination.

6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Contractor shall comply with alt the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 (“Equal
Employment Opportunity”), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Depariment of Labor (41
C.F.R. Part 60), and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United States access to any of the
Contractor’s books, records and accounts for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenants, terms and conditions of this Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor
warrants thal all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Services, and shall be properly
licensed and otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shatl not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State
employee or official, who is materially involved in the
procurement, administration or performance of this

Page 2 of 4

Contractor Initials
Date ¥ /0/4l15



Agreement. This provision shall survive termination of this
Agreement.

7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the State’s representative. In the event
of any dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agrecment,
the Contracting Officer’s decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder
(“Event of Default”):

8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure 1o perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement,

8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days after giving the Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default
shall never be paid to the Contractor;

8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the Stale may owe to
the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or

8.2.4 reat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of its
remedies at Jaw or in equity, or both,

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/
PRESERVATION,

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word “data’ shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.

9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the Staie upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.

9.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data
requires prior writien approval of the State.

10. TERMINATION., [n the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
OfTicer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date of
termination, a report (“Termination Report™) describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Report shall be identical to those of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

11. CONTRACTOR’S RELATION TO THE STATE. In
the performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers’ compensation
or other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.
The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of the Services shall be
subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The Contractor shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on account of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed 1o arise out of) the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the
sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved (o the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shali, at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee (o obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance;

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts
of not less than $1,000,000per occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate ; and

14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject to subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less than 80% of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shalt
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
State of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the Siate of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of
insurance for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior Lo the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The certificate(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each certificate(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION,

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A
(“Workers' Compensation™).

13.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shail
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee to secure
and maintain, payment of Workers® Compensation in
connection with activities which the person proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers’ Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 281-A and any
applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers®
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of the
Services under this Agreement.

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hereof afier any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard 1o that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the part of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDNMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by the parties hereto and only afier approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire unless no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.
This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the partics and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction shall be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXHIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of
this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
cffect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, constitutes the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto,
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EXHIBIT A
SCOPE OF SERVICES

SAT Schoo! Day Program

1. Services Overview

The College Board will support the New Hampshire Depariment of Education (the “State”} in
administering the SAT exam during a school day. Under this Contract, “SAT" will be used to refer to both
the SAT (without essay) and the SAT with Essay. The scope of services encompasses a State-sponsored
SAT School Day (paper/pencil) administration and delivery of SAT data and reports through our online
data portal {the "Program”). The College Board will deliver the Program as outlined in this Exhibit and
Attachments.

1.1.  Enrollment and Program Participation

The State will provide to the College Board. in accordance with the timeframes defined in Attachment
1 to Exhibit A, information concerning the numbers of cohort Participants (“Participating Cohort")
enrolled in the schools which are participating in the Program (“Enrollment™ or “Participant(s}”}.
Participants who register for the SAT exam in accordance with the provisions of this Exhibit and
Attachments are herein referred to as “Participants.”

1.2. Related Implementation Services

1.2.1. Setting up SAT Test Centers

The State will accurately complete a Test Center Intake Form, provided by the College Board, to
designate those locations parficipating in the Program. All locations designated by the State and
that meet all College Board requirements will be established as SAT Test Centers {"Test Centers”) for
the Program. The State will identify a Test Center Supervisor at each participating location who must
complete a two-page Test Center Master Form {"CMF") in order to establish the location as a Test
Center, The Stote is responsible for ensuring compliance with CMF completion. College Board
reserves the right to cancel the administration of the Program at any Test Center if a completed
CMF is not returned with complete and accurate information by the deadiines established in
Attachment 1.

1.2.2. Delivering SAT Practice Tools and Support

In addition to the free practice tools avaiable at hitp;//sat.collegeboard.org/practice, all
Participants will have access to free, personalized and focused practice resources through the
College Board's collaboration with Khan Academy. Practice materials for the SAT exam are
available at the Khan Acgdemy website (khanacademy.org/sat). The State will be responsible for
distributing information about Khan Academy and encouraging usage. The State acknowledges
that use of the Khan Academy practice tool and materials is subject to the Khan Academy site
terms and conditions.

Additional SAT Readiness producis (e.g.. publications) are not included as part of the Program.

1.2.3. Providing Accommodations to Participants with Disabillities

Accommodations for Participants with disabilities will be granted and administered according to the
College Board's standard eligibility and administration procedures. Participants must apply for
accommodations under the College Board's Services for Participants with Disabilities {SSD) program
and must follow the SSD program's published procedures, which can be found at
http://www.collegeboard.com/ssd/Participant and
hitp://professionadls.collegeboard.com/testing/ssd. Only College Board-approved accommaodations

Contract between the College Board and New Hampshire Department of Education
Puge l of 15
Contructor Initigls, ™~
Date t‘j



are permitted for scores that are reportable to colleges for admission. Any provided
accommodations not previously and explicitly approved by the College Board's $SD program, or
accommodations that the College Board and the New Hampshire Department of Education agree
are state-approved accommodations, will result in scores that are not reportable 1o colleges.
universities, and scholarship programs but would be valid for state accountability and assessment
purposes. State will be responsible for working with schools to designate an appropriate
accommodations coordinator {"SS5D Coordinator”) to facilitate the application for and
administration of approved accommodations. The “Form to Establish an SSD Coordinator” is
available at the above-referenced websites. Participants with accommodations previously
approved by the College Board, and who have a College Board-issued S5D code, do not need to
reapply for accommodations under this Program.

1.2.4. Registering Padicipants for the Program

To participate in the Program, the State must ensure that Participants register by the deadlines
designated, and using the methods described in Attachment 1. The State will be responsible for
working with schools to designate an appropriate registration coordinator [“Registration
Coordinator”) to oversee Program registration. The College Board will provide registration materials
and instructions to the Registration Coordinator. The State shall ensure that copies of the SAT
Registration Guide are distributed to all Participants (through the schools) at least four weeks in
advance of the administration as outlined in Attachment 1. Participants who are absent from the
designated test administration date are eligible for one makeup test as outlined in Attachment 1.
The Test Center Supervisor is responsible for calling the College Board customer service to transfer
their registration to the designated makeup test date by the published registration deadline
associated with such designated makeup test date. SAT Subject Tests are not offered under this
Contract

The section on fees reflects the State choice of the SAT without essay. The State choice is effective
for all Schools and Participants under this Contract. Parficipants who want to take the SAT with essay
must pay for the essay portion themselves through arrangements with the School or District or the
School or District can work directly with the College Board to provide that portion for their
Participants. Participants can choose to add the essay at the time of registration for the SAT.

1.2.5. Training of Designated Personnel at the Participating Schoals

The College Board will provide all necessary training and/or instructional materials to designated
Test Center personnel who will act as Test Center Supervisors, Registration Coordinators, SSD
Coordinators, Associate Test Center Supervisors, Proctors, and Hall Monitors {collectively
“Designated Personnel”). The required training and/or instructional materials will be made available
by the College Board to the State and must be completed in accordance with the timeframes set
forthin Attachment 1, Designated Test Center Supervisors are required to adhere to all of the
College Board's procedures, policies, and protocols related to test administration as specified in the
Test Center Supervisor training and instructional materials, and may be required to complete Test
Center staff agreements. The State is responsible for working with school districts to ensure
compliance with all required Designated Personnel training. The College Board reserves the right to
cancel the administration of the Program at any Test Center where any Designated Personnel fail o
complete such training prior to the scheduled test administration.

1.2.6. Administering the SAT

The SAT will be administered under standard College Board test administration and security
protocols as specified in the CMF and Test Center Supervisor training and instructional materials,
unless otherwise stated in this Exhibit, and will result in scores that are reportable to colleges for
admissions purposes. In accordance with College Board policies. any test iregularity, including mis-
administrations or security breaches, will be thoroughly investigated and may result in score
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cancellations. The State is responsible for making all necessary arrangements to ensure that the
testing environment and the security of all test materials satisfy College Board requirements as
specified in the Test Center Supervisor training and instructional materials. The test will be
administered by school district personnel, who will not receive addilional remuneration by the
College Board. All Participants must test on either the designated test day or designated makeup
test day. This Contract does not guarantee that all participants designated by the State for the
Program will actually test. It is the responsibility of the State to encourage school districts to ensure
Participants complete the Program. Participants testing under this agreement will follow the
guidelines in the SAT Participant Guide.

1.2.7. Delivering SAT Data and Reports

The College Board will furnish certain data and reports (*College Board Data") to the State through
the data portal as part of the Program. Attachment 2 to Exhibit A, Data Agreement and College
Board Deliverables, defines and governs the use of such data.

1.2.8. Communications

The College Board will create and send a series of customized communications to support the
Program. Communications will be organized and delivered in three phases: {1) Announcement and
Awareness, which covers pre-test communications to inform Participants, parents, districts and
schools about the general purpose and goals of the SAT School Day initiative as well as key "what to
expect" information to help all Participants complete the necessary activities before the test day;
{2) Readiness and Preparation, which covers communications that school personnel will need to
prepare and deliver the actual School Day experience, including important reminders from the
College Board to Participants and their parents to make sure they know what to expect on the test
day: and (3) Post-Test Activity Reminders and Updates, which covers important information for
school personnel, Parficipants and parents, as well as communications to all those who contributed
to the success of the Program.

1.2.9. Project Management and Federal Accouniabiitty Support

The College Board agrees to furnish all qualified College Board personnel, materials and services
and, in consultation with the State, to perform the services, studies, projects or deliverables
described herein.

This includes all professional development, fraining and communications described within, as well
as:
* Development and review of test blueprints and item specifications, including providing a
thorough review of pilot testing, item selection procedures and scaling/scoring procedures;
* Providing research and analysis to document the validity and reliability of the assessment;
Providing trainings for statewide implementation for state-level staff;
» Providing project management and planning services to ensure effective implementation of
the SAT statewide assessment.

The costs for these services and deliverables are included in the Total Price specified in Attachment
1.

2, Fees and Payment

The State assumes the responsibility for payment of all fees in accordance with the terms specified in
Attachment 1 of Exhibit A and Exhibit B.

Contract benween the College Bourd and New Hampshire Depariment of Education
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3. SAT School Day Program Intellectual Property

3.1.5AT Intellectual Property: The State agrees and acknowledges that the SAT exam, SAT with Essay
exam, examination materials, scores and ali items {questions) contained therein, are the
exclusive property of the College Board, including, without limitations, all copyrights,
trademarks, trade secrets, patents and other simitar proprietary rights, and ail renewals and
extensions thereof. Nothing in this Contract should be interpreted to indicate that the College
Board is passing its proprietary rights in and to the SAT exam, and/or SAT with Essay exam, to the
State or that its normal security procedures will be altered in any way. SAT is a registered
trademark of the Coliege Board.

3.2.SAT Data for State Accountability: The State and the College Board agree and acknowledge
that the data the College Board collects from the SAT exam for the purposes of the State’s state
accountability program will be provided to the State by the College Board and used by the
State to assess compliance with its assessment requirements.
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Attachment 1 to Exhibit A
Work Plan

1. Program Test Dates and Participating Cohort
Participating Cohort, Primary and Makeup Test Dates are as noted below.

Participating Cohort: Juniors
Primary Test Date: March 2, 2014
Make Up Test Dates: April 12, 2016 (School day administration)

April 27, 2016 (School day administration ~ Only for those
districts that are on school vacation April 12.)

2. Regisiration

Program registration will be completed online by Participants using the Participant Direct
registration method. All must be registered by the Registration End Date defined elsewhere in this
Attachment. The College Board will provide registration materials for Participant Direct
registration as outlined in Section 3 of this Attachment. These materials will include online
vouchers for Participants and instructions for both the Participants and the Registration
Coordinator. Each voucher contains an online registration code that Participants must use to
register for the Program. The State will provide the College Board with Participants’ first and last
name, unique gssessment identification number and date of birth {the "State Registration Data™)
no later than December 15, 20135. It is the responsibility of the State to ensure that Schools
understand that all Participants know their unique assessment identification number and are
awore ot any requirement that such number must be provided at the time of registration. Upon
completion of the Program, the College Board will delete NH DOE Registration Data. The State
acknowledges that Participants may desire to continue and further develop direct relationships
beyond the SAT exam with the College Board tor purposes of the Participants’ college and
coreer searches. Participants must have an e-mail account to complete registration in order to
receive Program services. This email will not be shared with the State or any external entity.

3. State Obligations

The following milestones and their associated completion dates {"Deadlines”} are critical to the
success of the Program. The State acknowledges its role in ensuring that the Deadlines are met,
and further acknowledges that failure to meet any particular Deadline may result in an
incomplete delivery of the Program or suspension or cancellation of the Program. The State and
Coliege Board agree and commit to providing clear and complete notice to one another in the
even! that any particular Deadline is jeopardized during the course of the Program.

Deadline

for Obligations of the Parties In Preparation for the SAT School Day
Key Milestone 03/02/2016 | Administration

Admin '
Complete Test 11/18/15 The State is responsible for compiling accurate contact
Center Intake Form information for all proposed test center locations, including

designated Test Center Supervisor, and confirming Enroliment
on the Test Center Intoke Form provided by the College Board.
Test Center Intoke Forms must be complete before Test Center
Master Forms are distributed to the test center locations.
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Establish Test 11/18/15 The designated Test Centler Supervisor at each participating
Centers through school will complete a Test Center Master Form provided by the
12/7/15 College Board and return it in accordance with the instructions

on the form. This form is required to recognize the school as a
Test Center for the Program and enable shipment of test
materials to the Test Center. Compliance is required for all
participaling schools, even those who are currently registered
as test centers for national SAT administrations.

Online Registration | 12/14/15 The State will advise the schools and districts of this Deadline

Start Date and direct them to fulfill all registration procedures in
accordance with the terms outlined in Exhibit A and this
Attachment,

Application 01/13/16 The State will advise the schools and Districts of this Deadline

deadline for and direct them to timely file applications by all Participants

Participants seeking requesting College Board approved accommodations in

fo test with accordance with the terms outlined in Exhibit A. In addition, the

accommodations Coliege Board will ensure timely approvals and or feedback to
those Participants requesting accommodations.

SAT Registration 02/03/16 The College Board will send this material to schools and districts,

Guide distribution to as applicable, and direct that Test Centers shall ensure that

Participants copies of the SAT Registration Guide are distributed fo all
Participants.

Online Registration | 02/17/16 The State will advise the schools and Districts of this Deadline

end date and direct them to fulfill ali registration procedures in
accordance with the terms outlined in Schedule 1 and this
Attachment.

Complete tralning | 02/17/16 The State will advise the schools and Districts of this information

for all Test Centet and direct them to comply with all Test Center Supervisor

Staff Training requirements in accordance with the terms outlined in
Schedule 1.

SAT School Day Test | 03/02/16 The State and the College Board will direct that schools and

Administration Districts ensure all personnel; facilities and logistics are in place
for a successful test administration in accordance with the
terms outlined in Exhibit A.

SAT School Day 04/12/16 The State will work with Districts to ensure all personnel, facilities

make-up and logistics are in place for a successful test administration in

administration accordance with the terms outlined in Exhibit A.

SAT School Day 04/27/16 The State will ensure all personnel facilities and logistics are in

make-up place for a successful test administration in accordance with

adminisiration for the terms outlined in Exhibit A.

Schools on

vacation on 4/12

SAT School Day Test | 05/18/16 Participant scores from the SAT Schoot Day test will be available

Score reporis to schools, districts, and the State through the secure Online

avoilable to Score Reporting portal. The College Board will provide the

schools, disfrict, State with directions to use the score reporting portal in

and state advance of this date.
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SAT School Day Test | 5/20/16 List of Participants with cancelled scores or score holds will be

List of Undeliverable delivered electronically (via secure method) to the State’s
pParticipont Scores Program Coordinators, as designated by the State in writing
{Participants with prior o the SAT School Day Test Administralion.

cancelled test
scores or for whom
scores are being

validated)

SAT School Day 6/20/16 Participant scores from the SAT School Day make-up test will be
Make-up available to schools, districts, and the State through the Online
administration Test Score Reporting portal. The College Board will provide the
Score reporis State with directions to use the score reporting portal in
available to advance of this date.

schools, district,

and state

SAT School Day 6/24/16 List of participants with cancelled scores or score holds will be
make-up delivered electronically (via secure method) to Parlicipant's
administration Test Program Coordinators, as designated by the State in writing
List of Undeliverable prior to the SAT School Day Test Administration.

Participant Scores

(Parlicipant with

canceiled test
scores or for whom
scores are beling
validaled)

4. Dedicated SAT School Day Customer Service for Educators

The College Board will provide the State with a dedicaled customer service representative with a
dedicated phone number and email address for State-specific support. Specifically the College Board
will provide:

+ Step-by-step assistance with College Board online tools {e.g. SAT Onfine Registration, SSD
System, TCS Site, etc.)
Assistance with completing required forms {e.g. Intake. CMF, Al Reguest Form, etc)
Assistance with obtaoining additional malerials (e.g. Voucher Codes, Publications)
Feedback mechanism for Test Center Supervisors

Dates and Times of Service will be available from November 18, 2015 through April 27, 2016,
Monday through Friday 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time. Customer service for the
SAT Program can also be accessed online at the following web address:
http://sat.collegeboard.org/coniact. In the event that the dedicated customer service
representative is out of the office, the College Board will provide a back-up dedicated customer
service representative.

5. Required information

The State shall furnish the College Board with a list of districts and participating high schools with
their respective High School Code as prescribed in Section é, {List of Participating Districts and
Schools); such list is incorporated by reference herein. The State may not make changes fo the
list of participating high schools after the following dates:

March 2, 2016 Administration - November 18, 2015

April 12 & 27, 2016 Administration - January 6, 20146
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6. List of Participating Schools

HIGH SAU #
SCHOOL

CODE HIGH SCHOOL NAME

300118 Academy for Science and Design Chartered Public School 401
300280 Alvime High School 81
300044 Bedford High School 25
300035 Belmont High School 80
300040 Berlin Senior High School 3
300059 Bow High School 67
300539 Bud Carlson Academy >4
300337 Campbell High School 27
300134 Cocheco Arts and Technology Charter Academy 401
300470 Coe-Brown Northwood Academy 201
300100 Colebrook Academy 7
300155 Conant High School 47
300115 Concord High School 8
300470 Contoocook Valley Regional High School ‘
300484 CSl Charter School 401
300135 Dover Senior High School n
300175 Epping High Schoo! 4
300180 Exefer High School 16
300000 Fall Mountain Regional High School 60
300195 Farmington Senior High School 8]
300205 Frankiin High School '8
300304 Gilford High Schoot 73
300210 Goffsiown High Schoo! 4
300220 Gorham High School 0
Forthcoming | Granite State Arts Academy Charter School 401
300182 Greal Bay elearning Charter School ) 401
300235 Groveton High School 8
300250 Hanover High School 70
300265 Hillsboro-Deering High School 34
300270 Hinsdale High School 92
300275 Hollis-Brookline High School 41
300120 Hopkinton High School 66
300395 inter-Lokes Junior Senior High School 2
300605 John Stark Regional High School 24
300466 Kearsarge Regionai High School 65
300295 Keene High School Xl
300125 Kennelt High School ?
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300636 Kingswood Regional High Schoc! 49
300305 Laconia High School 30
300325 Lebanon High Schoo! 88
300326 Ledyard Charter School 400
300330 Lin-wood Public School 68
300335 Lisbon Regional Schoo 33
300340 Littleton High School 84
300347 Londonderry Senior High School 12
300297 Making Community Connections Charter Schoo - Monadnock 401
300380 Making Community Conneclions Charter School - Manchester 401
300355 Manchester Central High Schoo! 37
300366 Manchester Memorial High School 37
300374 Manchester School of Technology 37
300340 Manchester West High School 37
300448 Mascenic Regional High School 87
300608 Mascoma Valley Regional High School 62
300405 Mermimack High School 26
300485 Merrimack Vatey High School 46
300410 Milford High School 40
300468 Monadnock Regional High Schoo 73
300416 Moulionborough Academy 45
300430 Nashua High School North 42
300431 Nashua High School South 42
300060 Newfound Regional High Schaool 4
300455 Newmarket Junior-Senior High School 31
300460 Newport Middie High School 43
300137 Next Charter School 401
300342 North Country Charter Academy [H) 401
300415 Nute High School 64
300150 Qysler River High Schogl 5
30000) PACE Career Academy Charter School 401
300482 Pelham High School 28
300565 FPembroke Academy 53
300130 Pinkerton Academy 202
300500 Pitisburg School 7
300505 Pittsfield High Schoot 5!
300510 Plymouth Regional High School 48
300520 Porismouth High School 52
300056 Profile Senior High School 35
300005 Prospect Mountain High School 301
300525 Raymond High Schoo 33
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300550 Salem High School 57
300300 Sanborn Regional High School 17
300555 Somersworth High School 56
300012 Souhegan Coop High School 3
300540 Spaulding High School 54
300090 Stevens High School s
300560 Sunapee Senior High School 85
300486 TEAMS Charter School 401
300508 Timberlane Regional High School 55
300188 Virtual tearning Academy Charler School 401
300615 While Mountains Regional High School 36
300625 Wilton-Lyndboro Senior High School 63
300634 Windham High School 5
300245 Winnacunnet High School 2)
300575 Winnisquam Regional High School 59
300640 Woodsville High School 23

7. Fee Calculation for Service and Deliverables

For each Participant tested in the participating grade(s}, the State shall pay the College Board
$36.55 without essay, which represents a 15% reduction in the per Participant cost for the 2015-
2016 SAT School Day Administration. The College Board will provide the opportunity for each
Participating School or Participant, as applicable, the ability to pay an additional amount to
take the SAT with essay for Participants who opt to take the SAT with essay. The State
acknowledges and agrees that Participating Schools are directly responsible for the fees of
Participants whose SAT answer sheets indicate that they are not in a participating cohort.

PRODUCT CATALOG | DISCOUNTED | QUANTITY | SUBTOTAL TOTAL TOTAL PRICE
UNIT PRICE | UNIT PRICE {cotalog DISCOUNT
unit price} AMOUNT
SATSD Volume- | $43.00 $36.55 16,779 $721,497.00 | $108,224.55 $613,272.45
Based Without
Essay ~ 11
Grade

8. Designation of Assigned Personnel

The College Board will designate staff contacts for the State in the SAT Program for SAT School and Test
Administrative Services at Educational Testing Services (ETS). The College Board will provide the State
with the name, telephone number, and email address for the designated contacts within ten days of
the full execution of this Contract Agreement. In the event of staffing changes, the College Board will
provide the State with a new contact person for that area of responsibility. The College Board will nofify
the State of the new contact person with their contact information within ten days of the staffing
change.

9. Program Implementation Meeting

The College Board and the State shall participate in program implementation meetings twice a month
in person or via telephone, to be scheduled jointly at mutudally convenient times. Regular participants in
this meeting include the State's Program Coordinator, the College Board's SAT Program contact and
the State and District Partnerships contact designated pursuant to Section 8 above. Other key staff may
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be included in the meeting as needed and as determined by the State or the College Board,
respectively, The College Board and the State will jointly develop the agenda for these meetings, which
will be distributed in advance of the meeting. In the event that any of the regular participonts are
unavailable to participate in the meeting. alternate meeting participants will be identified to
participate in the meeting.

10. The College Board shall deliver to the State's Program Coordinator a copy of any New
Hampshire-specific communications in advance of distribution 1o New Hampshire Districts and
schools. The Program Coordinator shall have five (5) days to respond with any questions or
comments, and a failure o respond shall indicate that such Program Coordinator has no
questions or comments. In the event the need arises for an unplanned communication to
address a time-sensitive issue, the College Board will share the communication with the Program
Coordinator with a specific deadline for feedback. Notwithstanding the above, the College
Board retains its right to finagiize the information in any New Hampshire-specific communications.

11. The College Board will provide the State with inbound and outbound shipping information for
SAT S5chool Day test materials for primary and make-up test dates. The College Board will
provide the State with tracking information for test material packages, and to the extent
requested, provide updates of packages while in transit.

12. The Test Administrative Services designated contact, or a back-up contact, at ETS, as
designated above in Section 8, shall be available to the State's schools and Test Supervisors
between the hours of 7AM and 8:30PM, Eastern Standard Time, on the day before and the day
of the SAT School Day test administration for the primary test date.

13. College Board shali include the State's Program Coordinator and Test Center Supervisors on
all email communications to schools providing information on the SAT School Day test
administration.

14. The College Board subconiracts a portion of the work and services to be performed under
this Agreement for SAT to Educational Testing Service {ETS). The College Board has a fully
executed agreement with ETS and its use of ETS shall not relieve the College Board from any of its
obligations or liabilities under this Contract. The State agrees and understands that
subcontracting to ETS does not violate or otherwise constitute a breach of the State's standard
terms and conditions in the Agreement.
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Attachment 2 to Exhibit A
Data Agreement & College Board Deliverables

1. The College Board Data
1.1.The College Board shali provide the following data, listed in 1.1.1-1.1.4 (“College Board
Data") and reports to the State:

1.1.1.Aggregate SAT content-level information based on SAT Test Form Data including
item type, difficulty level and content code.

1.1.2.Participant and Item Level data for the SAT test administered as a part of the
agreement for the primary test date and any make ups administered as a part of
this program. Participant and Item Level data will include Parficipant personal
identifying information fo ensure verification of Participants tested. The data will also
include binary Participant responses (right, wrong, omits}, to all items completed by
Participants, excluding the unscored section used for research/pre-testing purposes.
to assist with learning and instructional support. This data will be provided to
Participants and families in an individual Participant report.

1.1.3.5AT Performance Data and Reporis for SAT test administered as a part of the
agreement for the primary and make-up test dates only as a part of this Program.
SAT Performance Report is an aggregated performance report at a State, District,
and school levetl, when appropriate, and will include percentage of items
answered correctly by each skill group. mean scores by section and Participant
score distribution. Schools with fewer than ten Participants will not receive an SAT
Performance Report.

1.1.4, For certain testing dates, the College Board may provide Districts with SAT Test
Question and Answer Explanation which will detail for each question the skill tested
and explanation for each answer choice, which may solely be used for classroom
teaching and internal reporting purposes. The Questions and Answers Explanations
document includes College Board copyrighted content and may also include third
party copyrighted content, and may not be uploaded or posted to any website,
cached, reproduced, modified, displayed, edited, altered or enhanced in any
manner.

1.2.College Board Data sent to the State shall be used only for the following purposes
1.2.1.To enable the State to incorporate College Board Data into its accountability
system in compliance with state and federal law and to analyze the aggregated
data to improve services to help all Parlicipants become college- and career-
reqadly.

1.3.License Grant and Use

1.3.1.The State shall not use College Board Data for any other purpose except as granted
in this Data Agreement, nor shall it publish, for any purpose other than that granted
herein, any College Board Data or any derivative works containing College Board
Data without prior written consent of the College Board.

1.3.2.The State acknowledges the sensitive and confidential nature of the College Board
Data and it agrees that access to Coliege Board Data will be given only to those
employees who are bound by applicable State regulations regarding Participant
data and privacy.

1.3.3.The College Board retains all right, title and interest in and to College Board Data.,
and all copies thereof {including, without limitation, all copyrights, trade secrets,
trademarks, patents and other similar proprietary rights therein).
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1.4.The Slate shall not reveal or release College Board Dala or transfer or assign any rights
hereunder, in whole or in part, whether voluntary or by operation of law, without the
prior written consent of the College Board, except in accordance with the State's
statutory requirements for Participant data and assessments.

Pata Given {o the College Board (If any)
2.1.The State shall provide the following data (“State Data”) to the College Board, if the
College Board requests such data and it is readily available from the State:
2.1.1.Aggregated Participant-level course-taking information
2.1.2.Aggregated Parficipani-level grade/performance information
2.2.)f provided, the College Board shall only use State Data for the following purposes:
2.2.1.To demonstrate to the State, the impac? of Participant preparation on SAT scores
and overall college readiness.
2.2.2.To assist the College Board in building new State reporting services for future
initiatives; such as the development and validation of a scale that measures the
difficulty and rigor of Participants' high school curriculum.
2.3.The College Board shall not use State Data for any other purpose except as granted
above, nor shall it publish, for any purpose other than granted herein, any State Data or
any derivative works containing State Data without prior, written consent of the State.
2.4.The College Board acknowledges the sensitive and confidential nature of State Data
and it agrees that access to State Data will be given only to those employees, who
agree to be bound by these terms.
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Exhibit 8
BUDGET

Budget (through June 30, 2014}

PRODUCT DISCOUNTED UNIT | QUANTITY | TOTAL PRICE
PRICE

SATSD Volume-Based Without Essay ~ | $36.55 16,779 $613,272.45

11'h Grade

Limitation on Price; In no case shall the total budget exceed the price limitation of
$613,272.45.

Funding Sovurce: Funding for this contract is 27% Generatl Funds and 73% Federal Funds from
the following accounts:

FY 16
06-56-56-562110-49670000-612-500942 $165,763.00
06-56-56-562110-49930000-102-500731 $447,509.45
Method of Payment: Payment is to be made monthly on the basis of invoices which are

supported by a summary of activities that have taken place in accordance with the terms of
the contract, along with a detailed listing of expenses incurred. If otherwise correct and
acceptable, payment will be made for 100% of the expenditures listed. Invoices and reports
shalt be submitted to:

Dr. Scott Mantie, Administrator
Bureau of Assessment and Accountability
NH Department of Education
101 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301
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Exhibit C

Subject to Governor and Council approval, authorize the Department of Education to include a
renewal option on this contract for up to one additional fiscal year, subject to the contractor’s
acceptable performance of the terms therein.

Amen ts to the New Hampshire P-37 Aar ent
DELETE:

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of this Agreement are held by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of this
Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

REPLACE WITH:

23. SEVERABILITY. The provisions of this Contract shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the other
provisions hereof. If any provision of this Contract, or the application thereof to any person or
enlity or any circumstance, is invalid or unenforceable, {a) a suitable and equitable provision
shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out so far as may be a valid and enforceable
provision and (b) the remainder of this Contract and the application of such provision to other
persons, entities, or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity or unenforceability,
nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision,
or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.

ADD AFTER SECTION 24:

25. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. To the extent permitted by law, and notwithstanding any other
provisions of this contract, the total liability, in the aggregate, of the College Board and its
officers, trustees, pariners, employees, agents and the College Board's subcontractors and
consultants, and any of them, to the State of New Hampshire and anyone claiming by, through
or under the State of New Hampshire, for any and all claims. losses, costs, or damages
whatsoever arising out of, resulting from or in any way related to this contract or the work
performed by the College Board pursuant to this contract from any cause or causes. including
by not limited to the negligence, professional errors or omissions, strict liability or breach of
contract or warranty expressed or implied of the College Board or the College Board's officers,
trustees, partners, employees, agents, subcontractors or consultants or any of them, shall not
exceed the actual amount paid to the College Board under this contract for the specific
deliverable subject to the damages claim.

In no event shall either party, their affiliates or their subcontractors be liable for any special,
incidental, indirect, consequential, exemplary, or punitive damages {including, but not limited
to. any damages for loss of profits or savings, loss of use, business interruption or the like), even if
such party has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

24. DATA PRIVACY. Notwithstanding any other provision in this contract, the College Board shall
ensure compliance with New Hampshire RSA189:67 relalive to student data received from the
State.
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State of Nefo Hampshire
Hepartment of State

CERTIFICATE

I, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby
certify that COLLEGE ENTRANCE EXAMINATION BOARD, a(n) New York
nonprofit corporation, registered to do business in New Hampshire on May 17, 1988. 1
further certify that it is in good standing as far as this office is concerned, having filed the

return(s) and paid the fees required by law.

In TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I hereto
set my hand and cause to be affixed
the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,
this 27™ day of October, A.D. 2015

Zy Gkl

William M. Gardner
Secretary of State




SECRETARY'’S CERTIFICATE

I, Dorothy Sexton, VP of Governance and the Corporate Secretary, of The College Board, a not-for-profit
membership corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, do hereby certify that the
resolution below is a true, full and accurate copy of a resolution adopted at a meeting of the Board of
Trustees of the College Board at a duly called meeting on the 15" day of April, 2013.

Resolved that Jeremy Singer is authorized as of April 15, 2013 to make, execute and approve on
behalf of The College Board, any and all contracts and to execute and approve on behalf of The
College Board other instruments, a part of or incident to such contracts; effective until otherwise
ordered by the Board of Trustees.

I do further certify that the above resolution has not been rescinded, amended, or modified and is in full
force and effect as of the date hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand affixed the corporate seal of The College Board
on this 7%ay of November, 2015 and affixed the grganizatjon’s seal.

VP, Governgrice and the Corporate Secretary

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY NOTARY PUBLIC

State of New York )
County of New York )

I, Andrea B. Sluchan, a Notary Public of the aforesaid County and State, do hereby certify that Dorothy Sexton
personally appeared before me thisi‘-"day of November, 2015, and the foregqQing instrument was signed in his/her
name by him/her of his/her own free will. Q)

Signature: ° : - ‘./k\/

Name: Andrea B. Sluchan

My commission expires: August 6, 2019



Governance

THE COLLEGE ENTRANCE EXAMINATION BOARD
BYLAWS
(Revised November 7, 2008)

I. Nature and Purpose of the College Board

. The College Board is a membership corporation chartered by the New York Board of Regents
under the New York Education Law. The members of the Corporation are institutions, systems,
organizations, and agencies engaged in or serving postsecondary/higher or secondary education
and working together to support preparation for and transitions to postsecondary/higher
education.

The purpose of the College Board is to develop and coordinate activities related to student
academic preparation, admission, financial aid, and success in postsecondary/higher education.
In carrying out these activities the College Board is committed to access and equity for all
students.

[I. Membership

. The Board of Trustees shall establish a Committee on Membership to deal with issues relating
to membership and shall authorize the Committee to interpret and apply the criteria of
eligibility for membership set forth in this Article.

. There is a single category of membership called “member.”

It is the responsibility of College Board members to maintain policies and practices that create
and support equitable access to admission, receipt of financial aid, and continuing enrollment
for all students. The faithful discharge of this responsibility is a condition of initial and
continuing membership, and is subject only to the right of an educational institution to define its
mission in terms of educating persons of the same gender or of a particular religious faith as
long as all persons of that gender or particular religious faith are dealt with in an equitable
manner.

. With regard to paragraph C., of this Article, the non-discrimination clause, the Committee on
Membership shall publish, with the approval of the Board of Trustees, their interpretation of
this paragraph on a regular basis. As a condition of membership, members must comply with
the interpretation of the nondiscrimination clause as approved by the Board of Trustees.

New members shall be elected on application to the President and recommendation of the
Board of Trustees by a majority vote of the members at a meeting.

To be eligible for election:

1. Secondary and postsecondary schools and institutions must be appropriately accredited and
make regular and substantial use of one or more College Board programs and services.

2. Secondary and postsecondary systems of substantial size must have demonstrated an
interest in and support for the work of the College Board. They must contain within the
system institutions eligible for membership in the College Board and permit individual
institutions within the system to be members of the College Board.
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Governance

3. Non-profit  educational  associations, organizations, and agencies serving
postsecondary/higher and secondary education, must be engaged in activity in furtherance
of education that has a special relevance to the purposes of the College Board.

. The membership of any member may be terminated at any time by the submission of its
resignation in writing to the President. Membership may be terminated at any time by the Board
of Trustees and shall terminate automatically if the conditions of eligibility for membership
cease to exist.

III. Voting of Members and Delegates

. On issues that are submitted to a vote of the members of the College Board, each member 1s
entitled to one vote.

Any reference in these Bylaws to a majority vote or a percentage vote of the members of the
College Board shall mean a vote by a majority or such percentage, as the case may be, of the
votes duly cast at a meeting of the College Board or, when a vote is taken by mail ballot, of the
votes duly cast by such ballot.

On issues that are submitted to a vote of the'delegates of the members of the College Board,
each delegate is entitled to one vote. In all elections of individuals, the vote shall be by
delegates.

[V. Delegates

. Each member shall appoint up to three persons to participate on behalf of the member in the
governance and forums of the College Board and to receive membership mailings and
publications. The persons so appointed shall represent the member in meetings of the
Corporation, and of the Regional Assemblies, and one of such persons shall be designated to
represent the member in each of the National Assemblies. Alternates to act in the absence or
incapacity of delegates may also be appointed.

Each member shall designate its delegates by written notice to the Secretary of the Corporation.
. The vote of a member shall be cast by its delegates, whether the vote is taken at a meeting or by
mail ballot. To cast a vote at a meeting, a delegate must be present. No delegate shall represent
more than one member or cast more than one vote.

. The members may at any meeting elect delegates at large for a term of three years and honorary

delegates at large for an unlimited term. Such delegates shall have all the privileges of other
delegates except the right to vote.
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V. Regional Assemblies

A. There shall be six Regional Assemblies of the College Board -- New England, Middle States,
Midwest, South, Southwest, and West -- composed of delegates of all the members of the
College Board located in the geographical areas specified for each Assembly in each of their
governance plans. The location of an educational association or organization shall be
determined for this purpose by the geographical location of a duly designated delegate. A
member not located within the area of a Regional Assembly shall be assigned to one of the
Assemblies by the Board of Trustees.

B. The Regional Assemblies shall participate in the work of the College Board by providing a
forum for the members in each region:

1. To further the understanding of the mission and purpose of the College Board and of the
utilization of its programs and services;

2. To discuss, review, and inform the programs and services provided by the College Board
and the policies and practices involved in their administration;

3. To identify issues facing the members that the College Board might usefully endeavor to
assist in solving by developing new programs;

4. To exchange ideas on matters of educational concern relevant to the purposes and programs
of the College Board;

5. To consider and adopt recommendations and resolutions for transmission to the Board of
Trustees and Officers of the College Board and resolutions to be presented to Annual
Meetings of the members of the College Board.

C. The Regional Assemblies shall participate in the governance of the College Board by electing
nine members of the Board of Trustees, one each, with the additional three to be elected on a
rotating basis, as provided in Article XI. of these Bylaws.

The procedure for nominating and electing such Trustee shall be prescribed in the governance
plan of each Assembly, adopted in accordance with paragraph D. of this Article and designed to
accord each member of the College Board that is a member of the Assembly full opportunity to
participate in such nominations and elections.

D. Each Regional Assembly shall adopt a written governance plan to facilitate the effective
performance of the foregoing functions, which shall be effective on approval by the Board of
Trustees of the College Board. Such a plan embodied in Bylaws or rules heretofore adopted by
a Regional Assembly and approved by the Board of Trustees shall continue in effect until
superseded or amended with the approval of the Board of Trustees.

E. No Regional Assembly is authorized to make legally enforceable commitments or to incur
liabilities of any kind on behalf of the College Board. The necessary and reasonable expenses
of operating the Regional Assemblies shall be defrayed in accordance with the normal
budgetary procedures of the College Board. Support for special projects may be provided by
funds voluntarily contributed for the purpose by members of the Assembly but such
contributions shall only be solicited after consultation with the Board of Trustees of the College
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Board and no member shall, in any event, be obligated to make such contribution or be subject
to assessment of any kind by a Regional Assembly.

VI. National Assemblies

. Each member shall appoint a delegate to each of three National Assemblies: the College
Scholarship Service Assembly (CSS), the Academic Assembly, and the Guidance and
Admission Assembly.

. Each National Assembly shall adopt a written governance plan to facilitate the effective
performance of its functions, which shall be effective on approval by the Board of Trustees of
the College Board. Such a plan, embodied in the Articles of Association of the College
Scholarship Service Assembly, shall continue in effect until superseded or amended, with the
approval of the Board of Trustees of the College Board.

. A National Assembly is not authorized to make legally enforceable commitments or to incur
liabilities of any kind on behalf of the College Board. The necessary and reasonable expenses
of operating a National Assembly shall be defrayed in accordance with the normal budgetary
procedures of the College Board. Support for special projects may be provided by funds
voluntarily contributed for the purpose by members of the Assembly but such contributions
shall only be solicited after consultation with the Board of Trustees of the College Board and no
member shall be obligated to make such contribution or be subject to assessment of any kind by
the Assembly.

. The CSS Assembly shall participate in the work of the College Board by providing a forum for
the consideration of policies, programs, and standards within the field of the economic aspects
of college attendance. It shall participate in the governance of the College Board by electing
ore Trustee, as provided in Article XI. of these Bylaws and the Articles of Association of the
CSS Assembly.

. The Academic Assembly shall participate in the work of the College Board by functioning as a

forum for the consideration of issues and actions related to providing universal access to high
standards of learning. It shall participate in the governance of the College Board by electing
one Trustee, as provided in Article XI. of these Bylaws and the Governance Plan of the
Academic Assembly.

The Guidance and Admission Assembly shall participate in the work of the College Board by
functioning as a forum for the consideration of issues and actions related to providing
educational opportunities for all students at crucial transition points in their lives. It shall
participate in the governance of the College Board by electing one Trustee, as provided in
Article XI. of these Bylaws and the Governance Plan of the Guidance and Admission
Assembly.

VII. Trustee Committee on Nominations:
Nominations by Petition or
at Annual Meeting

. The Chair of the College Board shall annually appoint a standing Trustee Committee on
Nominations to propose nominees for those members of the Board of Trustees who are to be
elected at the next Annual Meeting and nominees for the offices of Chair and Vice Chair of the
College Board if a vacancy in such offices, or either of them, has occurred or will occur by
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expiration of terms of office at the time of the Annual Meeting. No member of the Committee
shall be eligible for any such nomination. The Committee shall include at least two persons not
currently serving on the Board of Trustees of the College Board.

. The Trustee Committee on Nominations shall file its report with the Secretary of the
Corporation at least twelve weeks before the Annual Meeting, proposing in its discretion either
a single nomination for each Trustee and officer vacancy to be filled or multiple nominations
for any such vacancy. The report of the Committee shall be distributed by the Secretary to all
members of The College Board at least eight weeks before the Annual Meeting.

. An additional nomination for a vacancy for which the Trustee Committee on Nominations has
proposed a nomination or nominations may be made by petition signed by a delegate of each of
fifty (50) members of the College Board. A nominating petition must be filed with the
Secretary of the Corporation at least four weeks before the Annual Meeting.

. Additional nominations for any vacancy may be proposed at the Annual Meeting of the College
Board by any member represented at the meeting but no such nomination shall be effective
unless it is approved as a nomination by a majority vote of the meeting,

VUL Annual Meeting of Members

. The members shall meet annually at a time and place to be determined by the Board of
Trustees. The members shall be advised of the date of the Annual Meeting at least twelve
months in advance.

. The President shall send a formal notice of the Annual Meeting to all members at least two
weeks in advance thereof. The formal notice of the meeting shall specify the items of business
to be considered at the meeting and shall set forth the text of any resolutions pertaining thereto
proposed by the Board of Trustees, an Assembly, or a member. To be included in the formal
notice of the meeting, a resolution proposed by an Assembly or a member must be submitted in
writing to the Secretary of the Corporation at least eight weeks before the meeting.

. One hundred members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum for any regular meeting of the
members. Ten percent of the members entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum for any special
meeting of the members. If the absence of a quorum prevents a special meeting of the members
of the College Board, or of a Regional or National Assembly from acting on an item of
business, the Board of Trustees may submit the matter for the vote of the members by mail
ballot.

. - A resolution pertaining to an item of business, the text of which has been set forth in the formal
notice of the meeting in accordance with paragraph B. of this Article:

1. May not be amended at the meeting unless the amendment is approved by a two-thirds
vote;

2. May be approved by a majority vote of the meeting unless the Bylaws otherwise provide,
except that any action of the meeting, approving or rejecting such a resolution shall be

submitted for mail ballot if:

(a) amotion for such mail ballot is approved by a two-thirds vote of the ineeting; or
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(b) the Board of Trustees, within two weeks of the adjournment of the meeting, determines
by a majority vote of the full Board of Trustees that the issue is of such importance that
the will of the members should be ascertained by a mail ballot.

A resolution pertaining to an item of business, the text of which has not been set forth in the
formal notice of the meeting in accordance with paragraph B. of this Article, may be introduced
at the meeting by a member and, if so directed by a two-thirds vote of the meeting, submitted to
a vote of the members by mail ballot.

Elections

1. When the Trustee Committee on Nominations nominates only one individual for each
Trustee or officer vacancy, and when or insofar as no nominations have been made for a
Trustee or officer vacancy in addition to those proposed by the Trustee Committee on
Nominations, the nominees proposed by the Committee shall be elected by a majority vote
of the meeting.

2. Whenever there are multiple nominations for the same Trustee or officer vacancy, whether
as a result of the proposals of the Trustee Committee on Nominations or of nominations by
petition or nominations made at the Annual Meeting, in accordance with Article VIL of
these Bylaws, the multiple nominations so made shall be submitted to a vote of the
members by mail ballot and the nominee receiving the largest number of votes, whether or
not such votes constitute a majority of the votes cast for all nominees, shall be elected.

[X. Special Meeting of Members
The Board of Trustees may call a special meeting of the members at any time and place and the
President shall send a notice of such meeting to all members at least two weeks in advance

thereof.

No business shall be considered at a special meeting other than matters presented by the Board
of Trustees and specified in the notice of the meeting.

The provisions of Article VIIL. governing procedure at the Annual Meeting shall apply, in so far
as relevant, to special meetings.

X. Dues of Members

The membership dues of the College Board shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of
Trustees. A member that is in default for the payment of its dues at the opening of an Annual
Meeting is not eligible to vote at that meeting or thereafter until its dues have been paid. A
membership shall terminate upon the adjournment of an Annual Meeting if dues have not been paid
for the two previous successive years.

XI. Board of Trustees

A. The Board of Trustees shall be composed of thirty-one voting members, as follows:

1. The Chair, the Vice Chair, the President, and the immediately preceding Chair, as members
ex officio.
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2. Nine Trustees elected by the six Regional Assemblies, one each, with the additional three to
be elected on a rotating basis, as provided in Article V., paragraph C. of these Bylaws.

3. Three Trustees elected by the three National Assemblies, one each, as provided in Article
VI. paragraphs D., E., and F. of these Bylaws.

4. Twelve Trustees elected by the members of the College Board in accordance with the
procedure specified in Articles VII., and VIII. of these Bylaws.

5. The Chair or Vice Chair of each of the three National Assembly Councils as members ex

officio.

Whenever the term of a Trustee elected by a Regional Assembly or a National Assembly is
approaching termination, or a vacancy in such Trustee position otherwise occurs, the Regional
Assembly or the National Assembly, as the case may be, that elected such Trustee shall elect a
successor. The successor shall be elected for any unexpired term of a predecessor in office or,
if the vacancy occurs within twelve months of the expiration of the term, for a full term in
addition to the unexpired term.

. Whenever a vacancy occurs among the Trustees to be elected by the members of the College
Board as a whole, a successor shall be chosen by the members of the College Board in
accordance with Articles VII. and VIII. of these Bylaws, except that when a vacancy occurs
before the expiration of a term, the Board of Trustees may designate a person to serve as
Trustee until a successor can be elected by the members. A successor shall be elected for the
unexpired term of the predecessor in office unless only one year remains in the unexpired term,
in which case the successor shall be elected for a full term in addition to that one year.

. Except as otherwise provided in this Article, Trustees shall be elected for a term of four years
commencing immediately upon the conclusion of the Annual Meeting in the year in which they
were nominated and expiring at the conclusion of the Annual Meeting four years later and shall
serve until the election of their respective successors. A Trustee who has served continuously
for four years or more shall not be eligible for immediate re-election.

XII. Meetings of Trustees

. Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be convened periodically at times and places
that shall be made known to the members of the College Board.

Special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called by the Chair or the Vice Chair or, on
the written request of two Trustees, by the Secretary of the Corporation.

. At all meetings of the Board of Trustees the presence of a majority of the entire number of
voting Trustees shall be necessary to constitute a quorum and sufficient for the transaction of
business; and any act of a majority present at a meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the
act of the Board of Trustees, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by
the Charter or by these Bylaws. If a quorumn shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of
Trustees, the Trustees present may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other
than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

. Unless otherwise restricted by the Charter of the Corporation or these Bylaws, any action
required or permitted to be taken by the Board of Trustees or any cominittee thereof may be
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taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Trustees or the committee consent in
writing to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action. The resolution and the written
consents thereto by the members of the Board of Trustees or the committee, which may be
signed in counterparts, shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Trustees
or the committee.

E. Unless otherwise restricted by the Charter of the Corporation or these Bylaws, any one or more
members of the Board of Trustees or any committee thereof may participate in a meeting of the
Board of Trustees or such committee by means of conference telephone or similar
communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear one
another at the same time, and such participation shall constitute presence in person at the
meeting.

XIII. Resignation of Trustees

Any member of the Board of Trustees may resign by delivering a written resignation to the Chair or
to the Secretary of the Corporation.

XIV. Trustee Committees

The Board of Trustees may appoint such committees of its members as it may deem advisable.
Each such committee shall have the powers and perform the duties delegated to it by the Board of
Trustees. Joint committees composed of Trustees and others and committees of non-Trustees, also
may be appointed.

XV. Governance of the Corporation

A. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be governed by the Board of Trustees and
managed by the President.

B. The Board of Trustees shall have the power to act for the Corporation in intervals between
meetings of the members, including the right to exercise any power granted to the Corporation
by the Charter or by the Bylaws. Unless otherwise provided, the Board of Trustees shall make
its own rules as to meetings and procedure.

C. The Board of Trustees shall periodically review the governance and advisory structures of
The College Board to make sure that they serve the evolving needs of the Corporation. Such
a review shall occur no less frequently than once every 10 years.

XVI. Officers

A. The officers of the Corporation shall be a Chair and a Vice Chair elected by the members and a
President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board of Trustees may
determine, appointed by the Board of Trustees and holding office during its pleasure. The
offices of Chair and Vice Chair may be combined. Any offices filled by appointment, except
those of President and Secretary, may also be combined. No officer, except the Chair and Vice
Chair, need be affiliated with a member of the Corporation at the time of election.

B. The Chair and Vice Chair shall be elected to such offices for a term of two years. They shall
serve for such term and until the election of their respective successors. A vacancy in the office
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of Chair or Vice Chair shall be filled for the unexpired term at the next meeting of the members.
An election for Chair or Vice Chair shall be conducted in accordance with Articles VII. and
VIIL. of these Bylaws.

The officers, except the Chair and the Vice Chair, shall receive such compensation as the Board
of Trustees from time to time shall determine.

XVII. Duties of Officers

. The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the members and of the Board of Trustees and shall
appoint, subject to the approval of the Board of Trustees, the standing committees and special
committees.

. The Vice Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair in the event of the Chair's inability to serve
or on the delegation of the Chair.

. The President, subject to the authority of the Board of Trustees, shall be the chief executive
officer of the Corporation, responsible for carrying out its purposes in accordance with the
policies determined by the Board of Trustees. The President shall appoint members of the staff,
shall make an annual report on the business of the Corporation, and shall execute all contracts
or agreements and transfers of property on behalf of the Corporation. In the event of a vacancy
in the office of the President or the incapacity or absence of the President, the duties of the
office shall be performed by such other officers as the Board of Trustees may designate.

. The Secretary and the Treasurer shall have the powers and discharge the duties that usually
pertain to their respective offices or that the Board of Trustees or the President may prescribe.

Any other officers appointed by the Board of Trustees shall have such duties as may be
assigned to them from time to time by the Board of Trustees or the President.

The President, the Secretary, and the Treasurer may delegate the performance of specific
aspects of the duties of their respective offices to persons subject to their supervision, but such
delegation shall not diminish the responsibility of the officer for the discharge of the duty
involved.

XVIIIL Reimbursement for Expenses

Members of the Board of Trustees and committees may be reimbursed for necessary expenses
incurred in the performance of the duties of their offices pursuant to regulations prescribed by the
Board of Trustees. -

XIX. Audit

The Board of Trustees shall employ a professional accounting firm which shall make an annual
audit of the Corporation's accounts and shall supply such other accounting services as may be
required. The accountants' report shall be open to inspection by any delegate of a member.

XX. Amendments

A. The Corporation shall petition the Board of Regents for amendment of its Charter whenever a

proposed amendment is approved in accordance with this Article.
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B. Any member, Trustee, or Assembly may propose an amendment of the Charter or of these
Bylaws. Any such proposal must be made for consideration at an Annual Meeting of the
members and must be filed with the Secretary eight weeks before such meeting, and the text
thereof shall be set forth in the formal notice of the meeting sent to all the members. Such a
proposal may be made for consideration at a special meeting by the Board of Trustees, in
accordance with Article IX. of these Bviaws.

C. A proposed amendment of the Charter of the Corporation requires the approval of the members
at a meeting by a two-thirds vote, confirmed by the approval of a majority vote of the members
by mail ballot.

D. The Bylaws of the Corporation may be adopted, amended, or rescinded by a majority vote of
the members at a meeting, but the action of the meeting approving or rejecting such proposal
shall be submitted for determination by a majority vote of the members by mail ballot if:

1. A motion for such mail ballot is approved by a two-thirds vote of the meeting or,
2. The Board of Trustees, within two weeks of the meeting, determines by a majority vote of
the full voting Board of Trustees that the issue is of such importance that the will of the

members should be ascertained by a mail ballot.

E. The Bylaws may be suspended at a meeting of the members at which a quorum is present by
unanimous consent of the members in attendance.

XXI. Seal

The seal of the Corporation shall be in such form and shall bear such words or symbols as the Board
of Trustees may determine.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Trustees
College Entrance Examination Board

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the College Entrance Examination Board (the
“Board”), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2014 and 2013 and the
related statements of activities and changes in net assets and of cash flows for the years then ended.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, this includes
the design, implementation and maintenance of intemnal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Board’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Board’s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates

. made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinior.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, PricewaterhouseCoopers Center, 300 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10017
T: (646) 471 3000, F: (813) 286 6000, www.pwc.com/us
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the College Entrance Examination Board at June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the changes
in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

QWW

October 16, 2014



College Entrance Examination Board
Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 248,745 § 147,624
Investments (Note 3) 509,857 394,209
Accounts and other receivables, net of allowance
of $3,040 in 2014 and $2,528 in 2013 123,582 135,571
Due from Educational Testing Service - ' 20,484
Grants and contracts receivable 3,986 2,841
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,718 10,070
Total current assets 898,888 710,799
Grants and contracts receivable 360 354
Investments, net of current portion (Note 3) 74,304 68,596
Property and equipment, net (Note 4) 46,195 45,621
Capitalized website costs and other software development costs,
net of accumulated amortization of $18,462 in 2014 and $22,350 in 2013 23,972 25777
Deferred charges and other assets 7,621 4,851
Total assets $ 1,051,240 $ 855,998
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other $ 77144  $ 64,895
Due to Educational Testing Service 24,166 -
Deferred revenue 34,671 29,694
Accrued postretirement benefits (Note 6) 1,071 1,052
Total current liabilities 137,052 95,641
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 4,602 7,272
Accrued postretirement benefits, net of current portion (Note 6) 36,346 32,694
Deferred rent, net of current portion 20,704 16,561
Other long-term liabilities 4.031 4,766
Total liabilities 202,735 156,934
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Net assets
Unrestricted 842,943 693,623
Temporarily restricted (Note 8) 5,662 5,441
Total net assets 848,505 699,064
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,051,240 $ 855,998

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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College Entrance Examination Board
Statements of Activities
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue
Fees from programs and services
Program and service fee waivers and discounts

Fees from programs and services, net of fee waivers

and discounts
Membership dues and meetings
Net assets released from restrictions
Total operating revenue
Operating expenses
Program services (Note 5)
Assessments
Advanced Placement and Instruction
Strategy and Enroliment
State and District Partnerships
Puerto Rico and Latin American programs

Total program services
Membership services
Total operating expenses
Operating surplus before reorganization expenses
Reorganization expenses
Operating surplus
Nonoperating revenues, net
Investment return

Interest and dividends
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments

Total nonoperating revenues

Excess of revenues over expenses
Pension-related changes other than net periodic pension cost

Change in unrestricted net assets

2014 2013
$ 889645 $ 843255
(77,754) (72,511)
811,891 770,744
2,876 2,399
6,710 6,322
821,477 779,465
335432 321,715
289,249 301,459
51,016 49,378
39,626 35,569
14,288 14,214
729,611 722,335
7,514 4,439
737,125 726,774
84,352 52,691

- 9,723

84,352 42,968
7,361 5519
58,306 39,447
65,667 44,966
150,019 87,934
(699) 5,640

$ 149320 $ 93,574

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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College Entrance Examination Board
Statements of Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

2014

2013

Temporarily
Unrestricted Restricted

Temporarily
Total Unrestricted Restricted Total

Net assets at beginning of year $ 693623 $ 5441 § 699,064 $ 600,049 $ 5313 §$ 605,362
Change in unrestricted net assets 149,320 - 149,320 93,574 - 93,574
Temporarily restricted grants and contracts - 6,831 6,831 - 6,450 6,450
Net assets released from restrictions - (6,710) (6,710) - ~ (6,322) _(6,322)
Change in net assets 149,320 121 149 441 93,574 128 93,702
Net assets at end of year $ 842943 § 5562 § 848505 § 693623 $ 5441 § 699,064

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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College Entrance Examination Board
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash provided
by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Net realized and unrealized (gain) on investments
Pension related changes other then net periodic pension expense
Bad debt expense - Advanced Placement low-income write-off
Provision for bad debts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Due to Educational Testing Service
Accounts and other receivables
Grants and contracts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred charges and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other
Accrued postretirement benefits
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue and other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment and expenditures for
capitalized website and other software development costs

Purchases of investments
Net proceeds from sales of investments

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements,
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2014 2013

$ 149441 $ 93,702
20,308 19,344
(58,306) (39,447)
699 (5,640)

- 6,595
(512) (282)
44,651 (20,576)
12,499 (24,854)
(1,151) 1,145
(2,649) (1,376)
(2,670) (922)
12,250 695
2,973 5,579
4,143 680
1,572 (340)
183,248 34,303
(19,078) (24,031)
(138,212) (49,595)
75,163 61,231
(82,127) (12,395)
- (325)
- (325)
101,121 21,583
147,624 126,041
$ 248745 $ 147,624




College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

1.

Organization and Basis of Presentation

College Entrance Examination Board (the “Board”) is a not-for-profit membership association of
colleges and universities, secondary schools, collegiate and school systems and educational
associations (5,969 members) founded in 1900. The Board’s mission is to connect students to
college success and opportunity by developing curriculum, tests and guidance tools to prepare
students for college and help them choose a college where they can succeed. The Board is a
Section 501(c)(3) not-for-profit organization exempt from U.S. Federal income taxes under
Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “IRC") and has been classified as an
organization that is not a private foundation under Section 509(a) of the IRC.

The Board has contracted with Educational Testing Service (“ETS"), an independent not-for-profit
corporation founded by the members of the Board in 1947, to provide test development, test
administration, customer service, and publications printing and fulfiliment services and various
administrative functions for certain Board programs. Expenses for services provided by ETS
totaled $291,121 and $275,777 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The
ETS expenses comprised 39% and 38% of total expenses for each of the years ended June 30,
2014 and 2013 respectively.

Significant Accounting Policies
The Board’s significant accounting policies follow:

Net Assets
The Board reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to the
following two classes of net assets:

Unrestricted Net Assets

Unrestricted net assets include expendable resources over which the Board's Board of
Trustees have discretionary control and are used to carry out the Board’s operations in
accordance with its bylaws. Unrestricted net assets also include property and equipment
acquisitions and improvements and any other activities that are not restricted by donor-
imposed stipulations.

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets include resources expendable only for those purposes
specified by a donor or grantor. The restrictions are satisfied by expenditures of the Board
in accordance with the terms of the donation or grant.

Measure of Operations

The Board includes in its definition of operations all revenues and expenses that are an integral
part of its programs and supporting activities and excludes investment returns and other
nonrecurring gains or losses. This definition reflects the way in which the Board manages its
ongoing activities.



College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

Revenue Recognition

The Board records revenues for fees and score reports on an accruat basis, as earned. Revenue
from exams is recognized as the tests are administered. Fee waivers and discounts, totaling
$77,754 and $72,511 for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively, are recorded as a
reduction of revenue in the period in which such waivers and discounts relate.

Grants are recorded as revenue when received unconditionally, at fair value. Grants received with
grantor stipulations that limit the use of the grants are reported as temporarily restricted support.
When a grantor restriction expires (i.e., when a time restriction ends or purpose restriction is
fulfilled), temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net assets and reported
as net assets released from restrictions. Cost reimbursement grants and contracts from
government agencies are recognized as unrestricted activities when expenditures have been made
in compliance with the specific conditions of the respective awards. in the event that cost
reimbursement amounts are advanced to the Board, such amounts are recorded within temporarily
restricted net assets and are released to unrestricted net assets when expenses are incurred.

The Board licenses certain software under noncancelable term licenses and provides services in
conjunction with the initial agreement, including training, installation, data conversion and
maintenance. Maintenance consists of product support services and periodic unspecified updates.
The initial agreement provides for an initial payment covering the services and the right to use the
software for a three-year period. The initial agreement also provides for payments in the second
and third years for annual maintenance. All revenue from the initial three-yedr term licenses is
deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the three-year license agreement. The customer
may continue to pay annual maintenance fees after the initial three-year term, which provides the
customer with a one-year extension of the time-based license and continued product support
services and periodic unspecified updates for that year. Revenue from these annual maintenance
agreements is deferred and recognized ratably over the related one-year period.

Beginning in 2012, the Board recorded as deferred revenue cash received from a large multi-year
state contract for books and professional development related to future years.

The Board also licenses other software on a subscription basis. All revenue pertaining to
subscriptions is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the subscription.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Board considers all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less, other than those temporarily held from time-to-time in the investment portfolio, to
be cash equivalents. The Board maintains its cash and cash equivalents in various accounts
which, at times, may exceed federally insured limits and therefore potentially subject the Board to a
concentration of credit risk.

Investments

Investments are recorded at fair value. Investment income, including realized and unrealized gains
and losses, is recorded within the statement of activities. Purchase and sale transactions are
recorded on a trade date basis. Dividends are recorded when declared. Interest income is
recorded on an accrual basis. Gains and losses on the sale of investment securities are
recognized when realized and are computed on a specific identification basis.



College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dolfars)

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Provisions for depreciation and amortization are recorded on a straight-line basis over the following

time periods:
Property and improvements 35 years
Furnishings, computer equipment and software 3to 8 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lives of the
assets or the terms of the leases.

Capitalized Website Costs and Internal Use Software

Website development costs and costs incurred for the development of internal use software are
capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated 5 year useful life of the
website or related software applications. Amortization expense was $7,842 and $7,399 in 2014
and 2013, respectively. The Board reassesses the estimated useful lives on a periodic basis
considering the effects of obsolescence, technology and other economic factors. The Board
reviews all long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses during the reporting period. The more significant estimates made relate to the
valuation of investments, account receivable reserves, and actuarial assumptions used in the
calculation of postretirement benefits. Actual results could differ from those estimates and the
differences could be material.

Pension and Postretirement

The Board recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of its defined benefit postretirement
plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and recognizes changes in the
funded status in the year in which the changes occur.

Advertising Costs
The Board expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended
June 30, 2014 and 2013 was approximately $2,295 and $3,038 respectively.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.

3. Investments

The Board follows guidance with respect to accounting and reporting for the fair value of its
financial assets and liabilities. The guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value is defined as the exchange
price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal



College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between participants
on the measurement date. Fair value requires an organization to determine the unit of account, the
mechanism of transfer, and the appropriate markets for the asset or liability being measured.

The guidance establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs based on the extent to which the inputs
are observable in the marketplace. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from sources
independent of the reporting entity and unobservable inputs reflect the entity's own assumptions
about how market participants would value an asset or liability based on the best information
available. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard describes a fair value hierarchy
based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is
considered unobservable.

The Board categorizes the financial assets and liabilities, based on the priority of inputs to the
valuation technique, into a three tiered hierarchy which maximizes the use of observable inputs,
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs as follows:

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Investments
in Level 1 may include certain equity and fixed income securities, registered mutual funds and
exchange traded funds.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than those included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities, and quoted prices in markets that are not active. Included in Level 2 are
certain fixed income, equity investments, and commodities for which observable inputs exist and
trade in markets is not considered to be active.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs which trade infrequently or not at all, and are supported by little or no
market activity and are significant to the fair value of the asset or liability. Investments included in
Level 3 primarily consist of the Board’s ownership in hedge funds, private equity and real estate.
The value of these investments represents the ownership interest in the net asset value of the
respective partnerships. These investments are primarily made under agreements to participate in
investment vehicles and are generally subject to certain withdrawal restrictions. The fair value of
the securities held by limited partnerships that do not have readily determinable fair values are
determined by the general partner and are based on varying degrees of judgment.

Investments included in Level 2 and 3 primarily consist of the Board’s ownership in alternative
investments. The value represents the ownership interest in the hedge fund or respective
partnership. The net asset value (NAV) of the investments held by limited partnerships and hedge
funds that do not have readily determinable fair values are determined by the general partner or
hedge fund manager and are based on appraisals, or other estimates that require varying degrees
of judgment. The Board has performed due diligence around these investments to ensure NAV is
an appropriate measure of fair value as of June 30, 2014. The Board’s estimate of fair value may
differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the
investments existed because of the inherent uncertainty of valuing these investments and certain
underlying investments held by them. These investments may be illiquid, and there can be no
assurance that the Board will be able to realize the value of such investments in a timely manner.
For partnership interests, gains and losses are dependent upon the general partners’ distributions
during the life of each partnership.

10



College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of
net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Board believes its
valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments
could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

The Board considers several factors in appropriately classifying the investment funds in the fair
value hierarchy. Aninvestment is generally classified as Level 2 if the Board has the ability to
withdraw its investment with the investment fund at NAV at the measurement date or prior. An
investment is generally classified as Level 3 if the Board does not have the ability to withdraw its
investment with the investment fund at NAV, such as investments in closed-end funds, “side
pockets”, or funds with suspended withdrawals imposed. [f the Board cannot withdraw its
investment with the investment funds at NAV when such investment is subject to “lock-up” or gate,
or its withdrawal period does not coincide with the Board's measurement date, the Board considers
the length of time until the investment will become redeemable in determining whether the fair
value measurement of the investment should be classified as a Level 2 or Level 3 fair value
measurement.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Inputs are used in applying the various
valuation techniques and broadiy refer to the assumptions that market participants use to make
valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit data, liquidity statistics and other
factors. The Board considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available and
reliable and provided by independent sources. The categorization of a financial instrument within
the hierarchy is therefore based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not
necessarily correspond to the Board’s perceived risk of that investment.

The Board’s total investments at June 30, 2014 and 2013 are composed of the following current
and noncurrent balances:

2014 2013
Investments, current portion $ 509,857 $ 394,209
Investments, noncurrent portion 74,304 68,596
Total investments $ 584,161 $ 462,805

The Board’s investment gains for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

2014 2013
Unrealized gains $ 80217 $ 49,650
Unrealized losses (29,094) (16,972)
Realized gains 16,338 10,619
Realized losses (9,155) (3,850)
Total net investment gain $ 58,306 $ 39,447

1



College Entrance Examination Board

Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

The Board’s statements of financial position at June 30, 2014 and 2013 include the following
assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Equity investments
Fixed income
Hedge funds
Private equity

Real estate

Equity investments
Fixed income
Hedge funds
Private equity

Real estate

Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ 161,433 § 47265 $ - 3 208,698
- 182,004 - 182,004
- - 120,167 120,167
- - 65,572 65,572
- - 7,720 7,720
$ 161433 $ 229269 $ 193,459 § 584,161
Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2013
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$ 126,372 $ 32,328 §$ - 3 158,700
- 153,041 - 153,041
- - 84,126 84,126
- - 59,954 59,954
- - 6,984 6,984
$ 126,372 % 185,369 § 151,064 $ 462,805

There were no transfers between Levels and no changes in the valuation methodology for the
years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

The'tables below present a reconcitiation of all assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013,
including realized and unrealized losses included in earnings.

Balance at Realized Unrealized Unrealized Purch Settlements Balance at
July 1,2013  Gains (Losses) Gains Losses (Gross) (Gross) June 30, 2014
Hedge funds $ 84126 $ (983) $ 15,698 (5.441) $ 35000 $ (8,233) $ 120,167
Private equity 59,954 5,892 7,890 (2,507) 5,827 (11,484) 65,572
Real estate 6,984 126 420 (136) 2,275 (1,949) 7,720
3 151,064 $ 5035 $ 24,008 (8,084) $ 43,102 9 (21,666) $ 193,459

Batance at Realized Unrealized Unrealized Purchases Settlements Balance at
July 1,2012  Gains {Losses) Gains Losses {Gross) {Gross) June 390, 2013
Hedge funds $ 83494 § (435) $ 14,128 (2,528) $ 5030 $ (15,563) $ 84,126
Private equity 48,258 4,143 7,379 (2,273) 13,249 (10,802) 59,954
Real estate 5,944 145 291 (240) 2,340 (1,496) 6,984
$ 137,696 $ 3853 § 21,798 (5,041) $ 20619 $ (27.861) $ 151,064
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College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

The Board’s assets with a fair value estimated using Net Asset Value per Share as a basis at
June 30, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Fair Value Estimated Using Net Asset Value Per Share June 30, 2014

Unfunded Settiement Redemption Redemption
Fair Value Commitment Terms * Frequency * Notice Period
Hedge funds $ 120,167 § - Generally 90% - 95% Monthly - Annually 15 - 95 days

paid within 180 days,
remainder paid within

45 days after the next
annual audit

Private equity 65,572 28,747 None Fund end date None
Equity investments 47,265 - 1 - 3 business days Monthly 5 business days - 30 days
Real estate 7,720 9,390 None Fund end date None

Generally 90% paid wrthin

10 business days,

remainder paid within 45

days after the next annual
Fixed Income 5,120 - audit Monthly 30 days notice

$ 245,844 38,137

*  Amounts noted herein are general descriptions. Specific terms and conditions for each fund

can vary.
Fair Value Estimated Using Net Asset Value Per Share June 30, 2013
Unfunded Settlement Redemption Redemption
Fair Value Commitment Terms * Frequency * Notice Period
Hedge funds $ 84126 $ - Generally 90% - 95% Monthly - Annually 30- 95 days
paid within 180 days,
remainder paid within
45 days after the next
annual audit
Private equity 59,954 28,029 None Fund end date None
Equity investments 32,328 - 1 - 3 business days Monthly 5 business days - 30 days
Real estate 6,984 5,188 None Fund end date None
Generally 90% paid within
10 business days,
remainder paid within 45
days after the next annual
Fixed Income 4776 - audit Monthty 30 days notice

$ 188,168 § 33,217

*  Amounts noted herein are general descriptions. Specific terms and conditions for each fund
can vary.
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College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)
4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following at June 30, 2014 and 2013:

2014 2013
Condominium property $ 20,093 §$ 20,093
Improvements 26,616 27,669
Furnishings, computer equipment and software 37,149 34,684
83,858 82,446
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 37,663 36,825
Net property and equipment 3 46,195 § 45,621

Depreciation expense was $20,308 and $19,344 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.
5. General and Administrative Expenses

included in program services are allocations of general and administrative expenses

(“G&A expenses”), including certain administrative, information technology, facilities and related
depreciation, and other support expenses. Expenses are allocated to programs based on various
allocation methodologies, including program revenues, headcount, and level of effort for the years
ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.

Direct expenses are defined as program specific expenses for the years ended June 30, 2014 and
2013.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the direct program service expenses to the program:

2014
Expenses
Direct G&A Expense After
Expenses Allocations Allocations
Assessments $ 272657 $ 62,775 $ 335432
Advanced Placement and Instruction 234,353 54,896 289,249
Strategy and Enroliment 38,083 12,933 51,016
State and District Partnerships 39,626 - 39,626
Puerto Rico and Latin American programs 12,283 2,005 14,288

$ 597002 $ 132609 $ 729611
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College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

2013
Expenses
Direct G&A Expense After

Expenses Allocations Allocations

Assessments $ 237993 §$ 83,722 $ 321,715
Advanced Placement and Instruction 233,940 67,519 301,459
Strategy and Enroliment 14,551 49,378
State and District Partnerships - 35,569
Puerto Rico and Latin American programs 2,100 14,214
$ 554,443 $ 167,892 $ 722335

6. Pension and Other Retirement Benefits Organization

The Board has a defined contribution retirement 401(a) plan through Teachers Iinsurance and
Annuity Association—College Retirement Equities Fund (“TIAA-CREF”) covering substantially all .
employees. The Board contributes a percentage of each eligible employee’s base salary to the
plan after a contribution has been made by the employee to a separate, tax-deferred annuity
403(b) plan. Pension costs are funded as accrued. Benefits under the plan vest according to plan
provisions. Pension expense amounted to $17,566 and $18,415 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Board provides certain health care and life insurance
benefits for retired employees who meet certain minimum age and length of service requirements.
These postretirement benefits are accounted for on an accrual basis as employees render
services. The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the plan’s benefit
obligation and a statement of the funded status of the plan as of June 30, 2014 and 2013:

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost

Interest cost

Participant contributions

Actuarial (gain) loss

Benefits paid

Curtailments

Contractual termination benefit

Benefit obligation at end of year

Funded status
Unfunded status at end of year

15

2014 2013

33745 $ 33,806
1,468 2,058
1,652 1,571
484 367
1,542 (2,290)
(1,476) (1,364)
. (1,714)

- 1,312
37,415 33,746
(37,415) $  (33,746)




College Entrance Examination Board
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 includes the
following components:

2014 2013
Service cost $ 1468 § 2,058
Interest cost : 1,652 1,571
Net loss amortization 843 1,635
Net postretirement benefit cost 3,963 5,264
Cost of contractual termination benefits - 1,312
$ 3,963 $ 6,576

Amortization for the year ended June 30, 2015 is projected to be $871.

2014 2013
Amounts recognized in accumulated unrestricted
net assets
Net actuarial loss $ 12,351 $ 11,651
Prior year service cost - -
Transition obligation $ 12351 $ 11,651
2014 2013
Change in unrestricted net assets
Actuarial (gain) loss $ 1,542 $ (2,290)
Amortization of losses (843) (1,636)
Curtailments - (1,714)
Total change in net unrestricted assets $ 699 $ (5,640)

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported. A 1%
change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% Point 1% Point

Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 468 $ (382)
Effect on the postretirement benefit obligation 4,908 (4,023)
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June 30, 2014 and 2013

(in thousands of dollars)

Assumed discount rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported, and changes in the
discount rate from year to year can result in material fluctuations in the amounts reported.

2014 2013
Assumptions and dates used for accrued postretirement benefits
Discount rate 442 % 491 %
Current year medical trend 7.00 % 7.50 %
Ultimate year medical trend 5.00 % 5.00 %
Year of ultimate medical trend rate 2022 2018
Current year dental trend 5.00 % 5.00 %
Ultimate year dental trend 5.00 % 5.00 %
Year of ultimate dental trend rate 2013 2013
Measurement date 6/30/2014 6/30/2013
Census date 7/1/2013 7/1/2012
Assumptions used to determine expense
Discount rate 491 % 427 %
Current year medical trend 7.50 % 8.00 %
Ultimate year medical trend 5.00 % 5.00 %
Year of ultimate medical trend rate 2018 2018
Current year dental trend ) 5.00 % 5.00 %
Ultimate year dental trend 5.00 % 5.00 %
Year of ultimate dental trend rate 2013 2013

The expected benefits to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years and in the aggregate for the
five fiscal years thereafter are:

During fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 $ 1,094
During fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 1,196
During fiscal year ending June 30, 2017 1,332
During fiscal year ending June 30, 2018 1,405
During fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 1,516
During fiscal year ending June 30, 2020 through June 30, 2024 9,669

The employer contribution for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 is projected to be $1,094.

The Board has an active 457B deferred compensation plan which is offered to select management.
The employee contributions are capped at the annual Federal limit for deferred compensation. The
assets related to this plan are included in deferred charges and other assets and amounted to
$3,927 and $3,495 as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The assets primarily consist of
money market funds and other marketable securities which are considered Level 1 based on the
fair value hierarchy described in Note 3. The liabilities that relate to these plans are included in
other long term liabilities.
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(in thousands of dollars)

7.

Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

The Board is obligated under operating leases for office space and equipment requiring minimum
annual rentals as follows:

Years ending June 30,

2015 3 19,723
2016 20,223
2017 23,273
2018 23,165
2019 23,064
Thereafter 205,912
3 315360

Certain leases are subject to escalation clauses relating to increases in building operating
expenses, real estate taxes and utilities. Rental expense on real property was $19,393 and
$18,601 in fiscal 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In 2014, the Board recognized an exit charge of $6,105 related to a sublease transaction.

The Board subleases certain office space to third parties. Future minimum sublease rental
payments pursuant to these subleases are as follows:

Years ending June 30,

2015 $ 3,840
2016 3,125
2017 3,239
2018 3,358
2019 3,481
Thereafter 7,666

$ 24,709

Office space sublease rental income was $1,307 and $1,166 for the years ended June 30, 2014
and 2013, respectively.

The Board has a uncollateralized operating line of credit not to exceed $60,000, and an irrevocable
standby letter of credit for $710, with variable interest rates. At June 30, 2014 and 2013, there
were no balances outstanding under these lines. The Board was in compliance with the financial
covenants related to the line of credit at June 30, 2014.

Contingencies

There are various lawsuits and claims pending against the Board which arose in the ordinary
course of business. In the opinion of management, claims and lawsuits pending against the Board
will not have a material effect on the Board’s financial position, activities, or cash flows.
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(in thousands of dollars)

8.

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets

Temporarily restricted net assets are restricted for the following purposes as of June 30, 2014
and 2013:

2014 2013
Innovation/advocacy $ - % 125
Educational/public service 5,562 5,316
$ 5562 § 5,441

Temporarily restricted net assets were released from restrictions in fiscal 2014 and 2013 in
fulfillment of the following purposes:

2014 2013
Research and developmernt $ - 8 22
Educational/public service 6,710 6,300
$ 6710 $ 6,322

Subsequent Event

On July 22, 2014, the Board sold its national corporate condominium office property reflected in
Property and Equipment with a net book value of $6,305 in fiscal 2014 and will be recognizing a net
gain from the transaction concurrent with this sale.

The Board has evaluated subsequent events through the issuance of these financial statements on

October 16, 2014 and determined there have not been any events that have occurred that would
require adjustments to the financial statements.
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Vi CollegeBoard

The Board of Trustees

Elected by College Board member delegates, the Board of Trustees is the governing body of the
College Board.

Trustee responsibilities include:

Making legal and fiduciary decisions

Approving the organization's mission, strategic goals, and objectives

Establishing policies related to membership, programs, and services

Approving the annual budget and major program fees

Advising the president, who is responsible for the management of the organization

The Trustee Committee on Nominations draws up the slate of candidates for the 12 Trustees
elected directly by the members. Nine Trustees are elected by the regional assemblies. Three
Trustees are elected by the national assemblies. In addition, the chairs of the three national
assemblies serve on the Board of Trustees. The chair, the vice chair, and the immediately
preceding chair of the Board of Trustees and the president of the College Board serve as
members ex officio.

The chair and vice-chair serve two-year terms; other Trustees generally serve four-year terms.
The Board of Trustees oversees a number of Committees and Advisory Panels.

Board of Trustees

Chair: Douglas L. Christiansen Member: Pedro Martinez
Vice Chair: Shirley Ort Member: Luis Martinez-Fernandez
Past Chair: Maghan Keita Member: Mary Nucciarone
Member: Pam Paulson
Member: Pamela Agoyo Member: Daniel Porterfield
Member: Philip Ballinger Member: William M. Schilling
Member: Craig Becker Member: Paul W. Sechrist
Member: Nathan Brostrom Member: Caesar Storlazzi
Member: David Coleman (President, The Member: Michael Sorrell
College Board) Member: Jim Tilton
Member: Karen Cooper ‘ Member: Scott Verzyl
Member: Joseph P. Dragone Member: Paul G. Weaver

Member: Kenneth L. Ender
Member: Chio Flores
Member: Willie J. Gilchrist
Member: Barbara A. Gill
Member: Terry Grier
Member: Kaya Henderson
Member: Pamela T. Horne
Member: Von Mansfield
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Key Personnel

Name Title
Matt Lisk Executive Director, College Readiness Assessment
Sharon Cowley Senior Project Manager

Dena Soled Johnson  Director, K-12

Mark Vattes Director, Government Relations, New England
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MATT LISK

Executive Director, College Readiness Assessments

250 Vesey Street, New York, NY 10281
212-649-5484
mlisk@collegeboard.org

WORK EXPERIENCE

Current Occupation

The College Board New York, NY
Executive Director, College Readiness Assessments March 2013 — Present

Provide Assessment Program leadership and expertise to support the adoption, delivery and
perceptions of SAT and PSAT/NMSQT products and services both internally (with the various
service units and governing councils/committees) and externally (States, Districts, tegislators and
influencers).

+ Market Development: Formulating and implementing comprehensive short and long term
strategies to deliver SAT and PSAT/NMSQT programs and services to States and Districts.
Defining customer experience and delivery requirements for success.

+ Large Scale Implementation: Managing statewide implementations in Michigan, Connecticut
and New Hampshire.

+ Product Development: Expanding program features and championing broad policy changes
that best meet the needs of customers across the assessment markets, driving new research
and design/development activities.

Previous Occupation

Executive Director, Pathway Product Management April 2009 — March 2013

Oversee all sales and business development functions, including development of product
strategies and roadmaps, comprehensive outreach and communications plans, project and
operational management of large scale product launches, and management of a large
product development team.

+ Increased Access: Created SAT School Day program and expanded test center locations to
bring more opportunities closer to students.

+ Assessment Pathways: Developed updated positioning and the supporting functionality to
shift organization from a purely product-based business to a market-focused business.

+ Developed Relationships: Led sales teams and statewide implementations of Pathway
assessments in l[daho, Maine and Delaware

EDUCATION

June 1995
Penn State University, University Park, PA
BS in Management Information Systems, With Distinction
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SHARON COWLEY

Senior Project Manager

11955 Democracy Drive, Reston, VA 20190
571-485-3368
scowley@collegeboard.org

WORK EXPERIENCE

Current Occupation

The College Board Reston, VA

Senior Project Manager 2011 ~ Present
Accountable for the successful execution of complex strategic projects. Manage projects using appropriate
project management processes -- integration, scope, time, cost, quality, resource, communications, risk, and
procurement management. Manage competing stakeholder requirements to deliver mission-critical products
and systems. Established a track record exceeding client expectations while delivering results on-time and
within budget.

+ Established myself as a flexible, hands-on project manager, continually selected to lead increasingl
complex critical projects supporting mission-critical Assessments including CLEP®, ACCUPLACER®,
SAT®, PSAT/NMSQT®, and Readistep®.

+ Selected for key PMO role leading a multi-year Assessment Redesign Program. Manage 13 work
teams and oversee issue and risk management. Lead integrated services team responsible for change
management and ensuring work team alignment across Program including external partners. Provide
guidance, subject matter expertise, and support to work team project managers. Act as an escalation
point to resolve issues blocking team progress particularly for issues crossing multiple teams.
Responsible for initial budget development and tracking for stakeholder transparency.

+ Managed product reengineering from initiation through first half of execution with no scope or budget
creep. Managed work and delivery of external vendor partner. Established effective communications
and risk management across internal and external vendor teams. Assisted client with defining key
business changes in areas of customer service and finance. Completed a seamless transition to a new
PM and ultimately a successful project completion.

+ Volunteered to assist Program team with a web-based practice test pilot site implementation. Assisted
in finding a solution to meet internal and external requirements. Project was completed within budget.

+ Assumed Program Management role for key strategy program. Provided oversight for five work teams,
budget and communications. Established reporting to provide needed visibility for senior management.

+ Support corporate best practices in project management. Awarded Outstanding Mentor Award,
December 2012.

Previous Occupation

National Geographic Society Washington, DC

Vice President of Operations, Catalog/Online/Retail 2007 — 2011
Promoted from Director of Operations (2001 — 2007)

Managed operations of $50+ million non-profit catalog/ecommerce and retail business including
P&L management, staff planning, and resource allocation. Set operational strategic direction,
managed inventory procurement, negotiated contracts, and managed relationships with key
partners including third party call centers, distribution centers, inbound freight carriers, and
outbound parcel carriers. Principal technology leader responsible for managing and implementing
core technology projects to meet business objectives.
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EDUCATION

Project Management Professional (PMP), Certified through Project Management Institute
Villanova University, Master Certificate in IS/IT Project Management
Michigan State University, Bachelor of Arts Degree (Marketing)
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DENA SOLED JOHNSON

Director, K-12
1601 Trapelo Rd Ste 12 Waltham, MA 02451
781.296.0549
dichnson@cogllegeboard.org

WORK EXPERIENCE

Current Occupation

The College Board . Waltham, MA
Director, K-12 January 2012 - Present

* Generate, cultivate, and maintain long-term relationships with schools, districts, and state
agencies to promote educational equity, access, and excellence for all students.

e Lead the formulation and execution of comprehensive implementation plans, communication and
outreach strategies, and statewide partnership proposais.

¢ Regularly develop, customize, and facilitate professional development workshops, presentations,
trainings, and engage in best practices consulting for K-12 constituents.

Previous Occupation

Director of Advanced Placement, October 2009 — January 2012, Boston Public Schoois, Boston, MA

¢ Developed, directed, managed, and implemented BPS’ AP Access, Retention, and Achievement
Program in conjunction with administering a three-year, $2.3 million Department of Education
Advanced Placement Incentive Program (APIP) grant.

o Oversaw operation of district’'s Pre-AP and AP program including the establishment of targets and
focused diagnostics for 32 high schools and 9 middle schools.

e Created a Pre-AP and AP skill development “AP Mentor” curriculum to strengthen students’
problem solving, reasoning, critical thinking, and analytical abilities.

o Instituted and supervised a network of teacher leaders to serve as “AP Content Specialists” to aid
classroom teachers and enhance instruction and regularly visited and observed Pre-AP and AP
teachers’ classrooms to provide feedback, promote best practices, and determine individual
professional development needs.

e Increased communication and outreach through the development of an “AP Teachers’ Wiki” and
delivery of a monthly electronic “AP Newsletter” for teachers, counselors, administrators and
families and established an annual “AP Conference” for families and students to promote the
expansion of AP classes.

Social Studies Teacher, August 2008 - May 2009, Roosevelt High School, Sioux Falls, SD
» Taught multi-level AP United States Government and Politics, Government, and Geography
o Developed and |mplemented differentiated curriculum aligned with state and district standards
that emphasized a cross-curricular focus with adaptability to meet and cultivate diverse student
needs.
o Part of a two-person team that rewrote the AP and Government curriculum for the district.

Social Studies Teacher, August 1998 — June 2008, Hayfield Secondary School, Alexandria, VA

e As Lead AP US History teacher, conducted district-wide professional development workshops for
teachers i |n Fairfax and nearby counties.

o Taught o grade World History and Geo%;h raphy 1, 9" grade World History and Geography f
Learning Disabilities Inclusion classes, 9" grade World Civilizations Honors 10" grade World
History and Geography Il Learning Disabilities Inclusion classes, and 11! grade United States
History.

e Designed an elective course, Comparative Religion, in which enroliment increased by
approximately 50% in two years.
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EDUCATION

George Mason University, Fairfax, VA; June 2000 — July 2002, Summa Cum Laude
Master of Arts in Education (initiatives in Educational Transformation)

James Madison University, Harrisonburg, VA; August 1994 — May 1998, Summa Cum Laude
Bachelor of Arts in History and Double Minor in Secondary Education and English
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MARK VATTES

Director, Government Relations, New England

136 Portsmouth St, Concord, NH 03301
603-219-4484
mvattes@collegeboard.org

WORK EXPERIENCE

Current Occupation

The College Board Waltham, MA
Director of Government Relations, New England 2012-Present

Advocate for state policies designed to enhance access to academic rigor and opportunities for students, and
related programs and services, including the SAT, PSAT/NMSQT, and Advanced Placement coursework and
exams.

Municipal Relations & External Affairs Specialist, Public Service of N.H., 2011-2012
Developed and executed municipal relations and outreach strategies, and facilitated interactions with external
stakeholders designed to advance the company's transmission projects and infrastructure priorities.

Mark C. Vattes, Government Relations & Public Affairs Consultancy, 2008-2011

Established private practice representing before state legislative and regulatory bodies the interests of health-
care-sector clients, including America’s Health Insurance Plans, the health-insurance industry’s national trade
association, and Express Scripts Inc., a pharmacy benefit management company.

Director of Government Relations, Anthem Blue Cross & Blue Shield of N.H., 2005-2008
Advocated for a market-based health-care system before legislative and regulatory bodies of state
government in New Hampshire.

Director of Communications, New Hampshire Senate, 2003-2005
Developed and implemented communications strategies to advance legislative and constituent-service
objectives for the state’s 24 senators.

Director of Constituent Relations, United States Senate, 1989-1999 and 2001-2003

Managed the delivery of statewide constituent services, including the supervision of staff, represented the
senator on policy matters and facilitated public discussions on topics related to education, housing,
transportation, the environment, and economic development.

Corporate Communications Specialist, Fisher Scientific international Inc., 2000-2001

Delivered public-relations services for Fortune 500 public company, Fisher Scientific Internationat Inc.,
including its subsidiary Fisher Science Education, and for two other public companies, GenTek Inc. and The
General Chemical Group Inc.

Government & Community Partnership Specialist, U.S. Census Bureau, 1999-2000

Performed public-relations duties, and established partnerships with external stakeholders to promote census
awareness and to enhance public participation.

EDUCATION

Master of Business Administration, Southern New Hampshire University, 1999

Bachelor of Arts in Business, Saint Anselm College, 1988



